
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
Website: www.breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - MONDAY, 1ST JUNE, 2020 AT 9.30 AM

THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE 
ACTIVATED AT THE START OF THE MEETING

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/BrecklandCabinet-01.06.20

THIS MEETING IS IN LINE WITH THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES AND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANELS (CORONAVIRUS) (FLEXIBILITY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY AND 
POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETINGS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 
2020

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/392/contents/made

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs A. M. Webb

Should you wish to make any representations in relation to the meeting please contact Democratic 
Services via the email below

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/BrecklandCabinet-01.06.20
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/392/contents/made




Cabinet
01 June 2020

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 10
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2020.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

Members wishing to speak pursuant to Standing Order 34 should inform the 
Chair in advance of their intention to do so and on what items they wish to 
be heard.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. COVID-19 UPDATE 11 - 21
Update by Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader of the Council and Gold 
Command.

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF COVID-19 22 - 26
Report of Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance & 
Growth.

9. BRECKLAND SUSTAINABLE STRATEGY (STANDING ITEM) 
Councillor Ian Sherwood, Executive Member for Customer Engagement to 
provide an update on climate change/environment.



Cabinet
01 June 2020

Page(s)
herewith

10. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
Councillor Mark Robinson, Executive Member for Community, Leisure & 
Culture.

To consider any applications put forward, and to receive an update on the 
community grants that have been provided during Covid-19.

11. LOCAL PLAN UPDATE AND DIRECTION 27 - 54
Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader & Executive Member for 
Planning.

The reports (revised) and the Minutes from the Local Plan Working Group 
meeting held on 14 May 2020 are attached.

12. NEXT MEETING 
To discuss and make the necessary arrangements for the next meeting. 



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Monday, 3 February 2020 at 9.30 am in
Dereham Meeting Point, 4 St Withburga Lane, Dereham NR19 1ED

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr T. Birt
Mrs H Crane

Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr S. Terry

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services Manager
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By

14/20 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 January 2020 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

15/20 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Cowen and Robinson.

16/20 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

17/20 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None. 

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
3 February 2020

2

Action By

18/20 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Atterwill, Birt, Crane, Duigan, Jermy and Terry.

19/20 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

20/20 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

The Communities and Environmental Services Manager informed Members 
that over 70 applications had been received for the funding available to assist 
communities with commemorating the 75th Anniversary of the VE and VJ 
days during 2020. 
The Executive Member for Contracts and Assets asked if the applications 
were valid and met the criteria if the Council would endeavour to ensure the 
grant be paid in full.  The Leader said Breckland were the only District to 
allocate further funding, and in addition there was funding within the Armed 
Forces Covenant available of which he would write to the Norfolk 
Commissioner asking for any funding that had not been spent to be carried 
forward into the next financial year.

21/20 BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2020-21 

The Executive Director for Commercialisation presented the report explaining 
that the budget had been out for public consultation as well as to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission.  Members heard that the budget was 
based on the fact that there would be no reliance on New Homes Bonus 
funding; no cuts to service delivery; financial support in reserves for 
feasibilities which lead to growth and investment; and a good financial 
position to manage any future changes from the Fair Funding Review or 
Spending Review allowing time to put an appropriate programme in place if 
required.

The draft Capital Programme outlined limited scope for future investment and 
that prioritisation for future capital investment would be key.

Councillor Atterwill thanked the Chief Accountant for the detailed presentation 
Members had received and the subsequent information that had been sent to 
Members on the draft budget.  

As a result, the Independent and Green Members wished to propose two very 
small amendments to the proposed budget:

The first was with regard to the Neighbourhood Planning Forums where it 
was felt the Council had not placed enough emphasis on the importance of 
Neighbourhood Planning and that more communities should be encouraged 
to produce a Neighbourhood Plan.  He added that both the Swanton Morley 
and Saham Toney Neighbourhood Plans should be used as examples of 
good practice and that through holding two Neighbourhood Plan Forums it 
would help to raise the profile of the subject and encourage communities to 
participate.  It was proposed that a total of £3000 be allocated for this 
purpose and be funded from the Growth and Investment fund as the forums 
would provide a return through housing supply at a future date.

6



Cabinet
3 February 2020

3

Action By

The second proposal related to rough sleeping transport.  Councillor Atterwill 
explained how there had been a rough sleeper within his Parish and through 
contact with the Breckland Rough Sleeper Team understood that as the 
gentleman could not be contacted during the day had been left a notice to call 
the team, or to make his way to the Salvation Army or the Crossings café, 
both in Thetford to receive support.  Councillor Atterwill felt there was a 
weakness within the system in that there was no transport available from 
Swanton Morley to Thetford, and the instruction seemed to assume that the 
person in need would have the means and capacity to find their way to 
Thetford.  It was proposed that a total of £1000 be allocated to cover the 
costs of transporting rough sleepers to Thetford to receive support.  The 
budget could be used at the discretion of the Housing Manager.  It was 
suggested that this could be funded from the recently announced Flexible 
Housing Support Grant funding for 2020/2021.

The Chairman thanked Councillor Atterwill for the suggestions and 
highlighting the issues.  He agreed that the Neighbourhood Forums would 
help to encourage communities to have their own Neighbourhood Plans, and 
agreed that due to the small amount this could be funded via a delegated 
authority.  The Chairman asked the Executive Director of Place to work with 
the Housing Manager to seek a scheme for supporting transport to those 
sleeping rough.

The Chairman went onto inform Members that there would be an increase to 
the Council Tax (£4.95 per annum increase on 2019/20 levels), and was 
confident that Breckland would still remain the lowest Council Tax across the 
UK.  He felt it was a strong budget that had been proposed and endorsed the 
recommendations to Members.

The Executive Member for Contracts and Assets added that the Council had 
become a victim of its own success by maximising return on investments and 
sensed the frustration by reviewing the comments within the budget report 
that strong performing Councils were being penalised.

Reasons for Recommendations
To comply with budgetary and policy framework

Options
1) That recommendations 1 to 6 are approved.
2) That amendments are made before recommendations 1 to 6 above 

are approved.

RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL:

1) That the Breckland revenue estimates and parish special expenses 
for 2020-21 and outlined position through to 2023-24 (as set out in 
Appendix B and E in the report) be approved.

2) That the capital estimates and associated funding for 2019-20 and 
2020-21 and outline position through to 2023-24 (as set out in 
Appendix H in the report) be approved.

3) The fees and charges shown at Appendix D and D2 in the report, for 
adoption on 1 April 2020 be approved.

7



Cabinet
3 February 2020

4

Action By

4) The Council Tax be set at £93.78 for a Band D property in 2020-21 (a 
£4.95 per annum increase on 2019-20 levels)

5) The financial Medium Term Plan and associated staffing full time 
equivalents at Appendix A within the report be approved.

6) The Capital Strategy at Appendix G in the report be approved.

22/20 INCLUSIVE GROWTH RESERVE COMMITMENTS 

The Chairman introduced the report asking Members to commit to funding of 
£2,025,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve on a three-year programme of 
community projects and initiatives.  He went on to highlight the opportunity to 
work with Norfolk Constabulary to help fund the Automatic Number Plate 
Recognition (ANPR) technology provision within Breckland to act as a 
deterrent to make Norfolk as safe as possible, and a tool for the Norfolk 
Police to use.

He went onto add how he would like to help tackle vulnerability within 
Breckland and that would be the focus of his tenure.  He felt there were real 
challenges which the Council had the opportunity to help influence through a 
list of projects and programmes listed within the report.  The Council had 
seen great success already through a variety of initiatives such as the Silver 
Social, and the Capital investment would allow Officers and Members to 
begin conversations with key stakeholders.

Councillor Atterwill asked what the driver had been for both Swaffham and 
Thetford to already receive investment.  The Executive Director of Place said 
that Swaffham had been as a result of match-funding the High-Street 
Heritage Action Zone project, and Thetford was as part of providing identity 
and a Unique Selling Point for Thetford that communities could use.  Market 
towns within Breckland were encouraged that if they had suggestions they 
could be put forward as part of the Market Town Initiative.

Councillor Jermy stressed the importance of ensuring that any investments 
were for projects that were sustainable opportunities for investment and 
would focus on delivery.  The Chairman agreed and added that whilst some 
projects were to support initial set up it was hoped that the stakeholders 
would see the benefits and continue to support in the future.

Whilst Councillor Birt fully recognised the value of ANPR he felt there should 
be a clear reason why the Council were supporting the police budget as the 
perception could be seen that Breckland monies was financing a police 
project; especially when Breckland residents pay into the police budget 
through their Council Tax.  In addition, he added that whilst he supported the 
projects listed, he felt the perception of where ‘Dragon’s Den’ was listed 
asked if the Council were taking a share of local businesses.  
The Chairman answered that with regard to the ‘Dragon’s Den’ initiative it 
would not be repeated as it had not been as successful as it was hoped. With 
regards to the financial support to ANPR the financing of the project would 
come from the New Homes Bonus, not Council Tax and was an opportunity 
to work with the Police to ensure residents of Breckland remained as safe as 
possible.

8



Cabinet
3 February 2020

5

Action By

Councillor Atterwill was in support and added that with the County Lines 
creeping into the District anything that could be done to aid the Police should 
be supported.

The Executive Member for Health and Housing, asked that the document be 
updated to reflect that the Dog Waste bins were emptied by Serco.

Reasons for Recommendations
The proposals included within the report would see over £2 million invested in 
Breckland over the next three years.  The money would be spent on 
supporting the vibrancy of the market towns and their heritage; funding local 
good causes and recognising the important work that they do; keeping 
Breckland a safe place to live and work; marketing the opportunities that are 
present within areas for residents; visitors and businesses alike; supporting 
the most vulnerable and helping residents to take care of themselves and 
protect themselves from harm.

Options
1) To do nothing.
2) To agree to fund some of the activity listed within the report.
3) To note the spend to date on funds from the Inclusive Growth 

Reserve, and moving forward to allocate: 
a) £60,000 to Norfolk Constabulary to fund Automatic Number Plate 

Recognition (ANPR) technology;
b) £100,000 to match-fund the High Street Heritage Action Zone 

project (Swaffham);
c) £75,000 to develop a place brand for the Greater Thetford area;

To recommend to COUNCIL that:
d) £1.04 million is allocated to an aspirational three-year programme 

of projects and initiatives that will help tackle vulnerability in 
Breckland, and,

e) £250,000 per annum is allocated to the Market Town Initiative.

RESOLVED that Cabinet :
1) note the spend to date on funds from the Inclusive Growth Reserve;

2) £60,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve to Norfolk Constabulary to 
fund Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) technology within 
Breckland be awarded;

3) £100,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve to match-fund the High 
Street Heritage Action Zone Project (Swaffham) be allocated;

4) 75,000 from the Inclusive Growth Reserve to develop a place brand 
for the Greater Thetford area be allocated;

RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that:
5) £1.04million from the Inclusive Growth Reserve be allocated to an 

aspirational three-year programme of projects and initiatives that will 
help tackle vulnerability in Breckland.

6) £250,000 per annum from the Inclusive Growth Reserve be allocated 
to the Market Town Initiative up to and including the financial year 
2022/23.

9



Cabinet
3 February 2020

6

Action By

23/20 BRECKLAND SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (STANDING ITEM) 

The Executive Member for Customer Engagement reminded Members that in 
September 2019 Members had declared a Climate Emergency and had made 
a commitment to address climate change.  After engagement with a number 
of key stakeholders the Strategy would consider:

- What can Breckland do ourselves;
- What can we influence the communities to do;
- How can we educate communities and work with partners.

As the Council had been approached by a number of people and 
organisations the following timetable had been drafted:

- An all Member facilitated session would be held in February.  In 
addition, it would be highlighted at the Town and Parish Forum event.

- A consultation would be held with key stakeholders and the public 
during March.

- A draft strategy would be presented to Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission at the end of April and a view to the strategy being 
presented at the Annual General Meeting in May 2020.

Councillor Birt said the importance of assessing and collating data of where 
the Council was at was crucial and asked what the timescale would be to 
complete the in-house assessment.  The Executive Member confirmed that 
Officers were already working to collate the data and it would be available by 
the time the open consultation would commence.  He added it was an 
important topic that was high on the agenda for all Councils, and as a result 
would be a standing item on the Cabinet agenda.

24/20 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting of Cabinet on Monday 16 March at 
10:00am, in Watton Town Hall, Middle Street, Watton, IP25 6AG were noted.

There would be an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions of 
Cabinet Members from 9.30 to 10.00am.

The meeting closed at 10.55 am

CHAIRMAN

10



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader of the Council 

To: Cabinet, 1st June 2020

Author: Maxine O'Mahony, Executive Director of Strategy & Governance & 
Monitoring Officer; Rob Walker, Executive Director of Place 

Subject: COVID-19 Briefing

Purpose: This report sets out a summary of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic.

Recommendation(s): 

1. It is RECOMMENDED that the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic be noted. 

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 This report presents a high level summary of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 
Council’s services and the way that we have operated. 

1.2 The summary is intended to demonstrate the most significant implications on the way that 
the Council operates and the changes that have been made to services and also to the 
command structures in emergency response. 

1.3 In the weeks leading up to 23 March 2020, when Lockdown commenced, Breckland’s 
incident response structures were set-up.  A Gold Command group was established under 
to leadership of the Executive Director Strategy & Governance and the Executive Director 
Place.  This group oversees the emergency operation of the Council and provides the 
Council’s coordination within the context of the work of the Norfolk Local Resilience Forum 
(LRF), which is using well established and rehearsed emergency planning governance 
arrangements to coordinate the multi-agency approach across Norfolk. 

1.4 The LRF stood up a Strategic Coordinating Group, meeting at least three times per week 
which has been attended by the Chief Executive, a Tactical Coordinating Group meeting on 
the same frequency (attended by a Gold representative) and various Task & Finish Delivery 
Groups.

1.5 Gold Command meets with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council at least three 
times per week to brief on the latest position, to take a Member steer on the Council’s 
response and operation, and to make ‘emergency’ Executive decisions as required.  

1.6 In order to maintain regular contact across the Council, the internal communication function 
has been stepped up alongside our public messaging. The Leader has written regularly to 
all Breckland Council Members and the Chief Executive has frequently communicated with 
all staff.

11

Agenda Item 7



1.7 In addition, the Leader meets regularly with the other Norfolk Leaders and the local MPs 
and briefings are provided each week by MHCLG and the DCN (amongst others).

Note: It should be noted that the figures quoted in this report were accurate at the 
time of drafting but may have changed between drafting and the Cabinet meeting on 
1 June. 

COUNCIL RESPONSE 

Critical Services and Staffing 

1.8 The immediate priority for the Gold Command [at the outset] was to seek to maintain all 
critical services, deploy staff accordingly, and to ensure the safety of our staff and 
Members.  

1.9 There has been an impact on all of the Council’s services, with some having to stop (e.g. 
leisure), and some having a very different scope (e.g. Customer Services).   These changes 
have been brought about to comply with government restrictions, and to ensure social 
distancing objectives, and we have had to focus our resource on core services. 

1.10 It should be noted that all Breckland Council’s critical services have remained fully 
operational during the response to the COVID19 pandemic.

1.11 Throughout the response to the COVID19 pandemic, over 85% of Breckland Council’s staff 
have been able to work remotely from home.  Only 7% of staff have been unable to work 
due to sickness, caring responsibilities, vulnerabilities, etc.  There has been only 1 
confirmed case of COVID19 affecting a Breckland Council officer.  Over 50 officers have 
been redeployed from their substantive duties for the Council to be employed in the 
provision of community and business support.  

1.12 Attached in Appendix A to this report is an infographic, which displays some of the key 
outcomes from our core critical services and the two work streams detailed below.

1.13 Government tasked local authorities with two core objectives during the emergency 
response phase.  One was to support Vulnerable and Shielded people within our 
community by ensuring they had food and medicine supplies.  The second was to support 
our businesses through the distribution of Business Rate Support and grants distribution.  
Its worth of note that both support to the Vulnerable and to the Business Community 
continues to date.  

Economy 

1.14 On 17 March 2020, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a broad range of 
financial support for the whole economy and a number of these measures included 
further business rate reliefs, grants, and funding arrangements with implications for 
local authorities. Some of the key measures announced to date include: 

 Business Rates Relief: Businesses in the retail, hospitality, and leisure sectors will 
pay no business rates in 2020/21. This “business rates holiday” applies to all 
businesses in these sectors regardless of rateable value. 

12



 Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Business Grants Fund (RHLBGF): Businesses in the 
retail, hospitality and leisure sectors with rateable values of less than £51,000 will 
also receive a cash grant of up to £25,000. 

 Small Business Grants Fund (SBGF): All businesses in receipt of small business 
rates relief (SBRR), regardless of sector, will be eligible for a cash payment of 
£10,000. It will not be available to some recipients of SBRR such as beach hut 
owners. 

1.15 As at 28 May 2020, Breckland Council had made grants to 2,284 local businesses 
totalling over £25 million and making up 87% of the original funding allocation.

1.16 A further 5% or £1.5 million has subsequently been made available by government to 
support those local businesses that were not eligible under the first scheme (described 
above).  Breckland Council will be opening its’ local discretionary scheme w/c 1 June 
2020.

Vulnerable 

1.17 As part of a countywide effort to support the most vulnerable members of our community 
and those on the “shielded” list, Breckland Council worked together with partners to 
ensure that access to food was sufficient for vulnerable and isolated people, food banks 
were supported, volunteer efforts were co-ordinated, local business support offers were 
utilised and that communities were supported to create their own projects and initiatives 
which improve community spirit, reduce the impact of social isolation and provide 
support to each other. 

1.18 26 rough sleepers have been supported in emergency accommodation as a key vulnerable 
group.

1.19 Breckland Council set up a distribution centre at the Dereham Leisure Centre to 
distribute emergency food parcels to extremely vulnerable people identified through the 
shielded list. The ongoing delivery of food parcels is being provided to 50 vulnerable 
households each week. 

1.19 The community resilience hub (reporting to Gold Command) have also been making 
proactive calls to ensure the wellbeing of individuals and providing responsive support 
as required. Over 3500 calls have been made to date.  

1.20 A hardship fund was also initiated to support those in crisis and most in need.

TRANSITON: RESPONSE TO RECOVERY

1.21 A draft COVID 19 Operational Recovery Plan is currently being developed.  The Plan will 
focus on how the Council recovers as an organisation, how it reintroduces services, 
supports its staff and members, learns from the experience of dealing with COVID 19, 
benefits from its new community and business links, and more fundamentally how it 
ensures that residents can access the services they need.  A Roadmap to Delivery has 
been developed and is attached in Appendix B.

1.22 From the 1 June 2020 new arrangements will be put in place to enable a focussed 

13



approach to the Council’s recovery.  This will see a temporary place-based management 
arrangement for the duration of recovery (10 months) and whilst some Senior Officers will 
continue to work across both authorities (South Holland and Breckland) the majority will 
be focused on one or other Council.  

1.23 Appendix C shows the new Interim Management Arrangements. 

1.24 A Ways of Working document has been created which sets out the ‘ways of working’ as a 
predominantly place based team, with some strategic oversight and shared corporate 
services supporting each council’s tailored recovery plan.  There will remain oversight and 
guidance across both councils, especially between senior management for peer support 
when needed.  This document also looks at Staff Morale, Wellbeing, Staff Survey 
feedback and sets out the expectations on staff at this time. 

1.25 A Shared Management Roadmap (Appendix D) has been created to show how the 
Interim Management Arrangements go through Response, Transition, Recovery, 
Normalisation and completion and return back to a Shared Management arrangement 
over a 10-month period. 

1.26 As government signals its intent to unlock some of the current restrictions on individuals 
and businesses in the coming weeks and months the Council is working collaboratively 
with Broadland and South Norfolk Councils and has established an economic recovery 
operation under the heading of ‘Operation Beacon’.  The purpose of this plan is to build 
confidence for our businesses, employees and residents by ensuring that we have clean. 
safe and vibrant public spaces.  This will be a total council approach to supporting our 
businesses.   

1.27 We continue to work remotely and Officers and Members of the Council have adapted and 
responded really positively to this forced way of working.  The organisation that ‘recovers’ 
from the emergency will look different and should reflect the learning from the emergency 
and the opportunity it presents us.    

COUNCIL GOVERNANCE AND DECISION MAKING 

1.28  In light of the necessity to ensure compliance with the requirements relating to social 
distancing the decision was made not to hold the planned committee meetings in April 
and May 2020.  

1.29 The Chairman’s Panel has now started to meet and has held three meetings to 
support the Executive Director Place in dealing with delegated planning decisions.  

1.29 Meetings of Cabinet and Planning Committee are scheduled for June 2020 with 
further committee meetings being planned to follow.  All of the above meetings will be 
held virtually.  Indeed, new regulations which enable councils to made committee and 
council decisions virtually came into effect on 4 April 2020. 

1.30 All decisions have been taken in line with government guidance and Breckland 
Council’s constitution. 

2.0      OPTIONS

2.1 That Cabinet note the contents of this report.

14



2.2       Do Nothing.

3.0      REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure that members of the Cabinet are fully informed of the way that services have 
been managed under the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 As above, to ensure that members of the Cabinet are fully informed of the way that services 
have been managed under the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.2 The Council has a memorandum of agreement with South Holland, which outlines our 
Ways of Working with the Senior Shared Management Team.  This is important to ensure 
our Strategic Relationship remains strong through these challenging times and with several 
of our shared officers working placed based for a period through this crisis.

5.1.3 All decisions in the emergency response stage have been taken in line with the Council’s 
constitution and government guidance.

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1 We have worked with and supported our main contractors.  Serco and Capita remain fully 
operational.  Parkwood, on government instruction have closed the leisure centre sites and 
furloughed the majority of their staff.   

       
5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 We have needed to adapt our Corporate Priorities through this pandemic, whilst 
maintaining all core critical Council services.  Our Priorities will be reviewed as part of our 
Recovery Plan.

5.5 Financial 

5.5.1 The Financial impacts of COVID-19 have been, provided in another report to this Cabinet 
meeting, which shows an overview of the current assessment of the emerging financial 
impact to the council from the Covid-19 pandemic.

5.6 Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1 As detailed above, we have managed the Health and Wellbeing of all of our staff 
throughout this Crisis and it   

15



continues to be a key focus.  We have supported staff and allowed them to be home 
enabled. 

5.7 Reputation 

5.7.1 Communications have been key in all the work taken place through the pandemic to ensure 
we are managing the reputation of the Council.  Internal communication has been 
increased to ensure our colleagues have the information and guidance they need to 
safely fulfil their duties, and to keep fully informed on the various changes that may 
affect their work. This is particularly important as a significant proportion of our 
colleagues are operating remotely during this period. 

5.8 Risk Management 

5.8.1 We have a strategic risk matrix for the Pandemic that covers all areas of Council                      
services.

5.9 Staffing

5.9.1 All Staff and Councillors will have been affected by the COVID-19 Pandemic in one way or 
another.  We have needed to be flexible and find new ways of working to ensure we are 
delivering the Council’s critical services whilst protecting staff and Members.  The majority 
of the Council’s employees are working, and many are working enhanced hours to 
support our collective response. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards and all Communities are affected by the COVID-19 Pandemic and, in turn, by 
Breckland Council’s response.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NRF - Norfolk Resilience Forum

Background papers: -

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director of Strategy and Governance
Telephone Number: 01362 656209
Email: Maxine.omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service and Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report

Appendix A Infographic on Delivery of Core Council Services and New Emerging 
Service provision. 

16



Appendix B Breckland Roadmap to Recovery

Appendix C Breckland Interim Management Arrangements

Appendix D Shared Management Roadmap

17



Delivering  Supporting  

Caring for
#teamwork

95% 
of our staff have been working 
from home to maintain services 
for our community

assisted 

3,500 
people via our customer  
contact centre

Over  

175 
food businesses have 
been supported in 
supplying take-away 
food in a safe way

61,000
household bins have  
been collected each week

11,000
garden bins have been  
emptied each week

Around

80%
of businesses eligible for  
support have come forward  
to receive a grant, and work 
continues to encourage the  
rest to engage

been fully operational with all critical services  
including: waste, housing, and environment protection.

Since lockdown on March 23rd 2020 we have:

for Breckland…

our community in Breckland…

businesses in Breckland...

We have  
determined 

182 
planning  
applications 

Provided all  

rough  
sleepers 
in Breckland  
with temporary  
accommodation  
since the start  
of the pandemic

3,400
household welfare check  
telephone calls were made to  
vulnerable Breckland residents

We have processed 

£23.7m
in business grants to  
2,112 busineses 

We have reduced  

747
business rates  
to zero %... 

We’ve been delivering around

* Information correct up until 19.05.2020

food parcels each week 
to residents in need 

days-a-week 
8am-8pm,
responding to residents 
with emergency needs

Open 

£

£13.6m

at a cost of

50

18



BRECKLAND 
ROADMAPMay

Response phase; Critical 
services only; Place-based 
management; No face-to-

face customer service; 
Elizabeth House largely 

unoccupied; Virtual 
Chairman’s Panel 

June
Transition phase; Economic 
Recovery work started; Non-
critical services phased 
return; Place-based 
management with some 
sharing; Ltd face-to-face 
customer service; Elizabeth 
House (max 40 people); 
Virtual Cabinet & Planning; 
Review key work 
programmes (e.g. growth / 
WorkSmart)

July
Transition phase; Economic 
Recovery work; Vulnerability 

work started; Non-critical 
services phased return; 

Place-based management 
with some sharing; Ltd face-

to-face customer service; 
Elizabeth House (max 40 
people); Virtual Council, 

Cabinet & Planning; Budget 
review commenced

August
Recovery phase; 
Economic Recovery work; 
Vulnerability work; Non-
critical services phased 
return; Place-based 
management with some 
sharing; Ltd face-to-face 
customer service; 
Elizabeth House (max 40 
people); No committee 
meetings

September 
Recovery phase; Economic 

Recovery work; Vulnerability 
work; All non-critical services 

returned; Place-based 
management with some 

sharing; Share CMT 
oversight; Ltd face-to-face 

customer service; Elizabeth 
House (increased use); Full 

virtual committee cycle; 
Budget review completed

October
Recovery phase; 
Economic Recovery work; 
Vulnerability work; All non-
critical services returned; 
Place-based management 
with some sharing; Shared 
CMT oversight; Ltd face-
to-face customer service; 
Elizabeth House 
(increased use); Full virtual 
committee cycle; Interim 
Corporate Plan changes

November
Normalisation phase; 

Economic Recovery work; 
Vulnerability work; All non-

critical services returned; 
Place-based management 
with some sharing; Shared 

CMT oversight; Full face-
to-face customer service; 

Elizabeth House (full use); 
Full virtual committee cycle

December
Normalisation phase; 
Economic Recovery work; 
Vulnerability work; All non-
critical services returned; 
Place-based management 
with some sharing; Shared 
CMT oversight; Full face-
to-face customer service; 
Elizabeth House (full use); 
Full committee cycle with 
Social distancing 

January
Normalisation phase; 

Economic Recovery work; 
Vulnerability work; All non-

critical services returned; 
Place-based management 
with some sharing; Shared 

CMT oversight; Full face-
to-face customer service; 

Elizabeth House (full use); 
Full committee cycle with 

Social distancing 

February
Completion phase; 
Economic Recovery work; 
Vulnerability work; Full 
service; Shared 
Management;; Elizabeth 
House (full use); Full 
committee cycle

2020
2021

19



DRAFT
Interim Recovery Management Arrangements Breckland 

EMT (Exec Director)

Recovery cells

Workstreams 

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

(Head of Paid Service)

Maxine O’Mahony
Executive Director

Strategy & Governance
(Returning Officer BC) 

(Monitoring Officer)

Rob Walker
Executive Director

Place

May 14th 2020

Greg Pearson
Senior Policy Advisor

Shared

NRF NRF: Recovery Cell 
NRF social isolation 

for transient 
communities

NRF: Business and 
Economy 

NRF: PPE cell NRF: Comms Cell 
NRF: Social 
Distancing

NRF: Domestic Abuse 
cell

NRF: Supply and 
Demand Cell

Jayne Geddes
EA 

Alexa van Zeller
EA 

Jayne Geddes
EA

 Communications 
and Customer 

Sarah Barsby 
Lead

Matthew Barnard
Adele Newsome

Gold Comms
External Comms 
Member Comms
Internal Comms
PR 
Customer Services
Customer Contact 

Critical Services

Riana Rudland 
Sarah Shipley

Leads  

Paul Corney
Simon Wood
Simon Taylor-Avery
Craig Fowler (shared)
2x new posts
Environmental Protection 
Manager
Food, Safety and 
Licensing Manager 

ARP
EHC UK
Building Control and 
Planning 
Enforcement 
Private Sector Housing
Facilities
Leisure
Public Protection 
Licensing 
Environmental Services 
(inc Waste)
Corp Health & Safety

Organisational 
Recovery  

Jason Cole
Lead

Ross Bangs (shared)
Jason Tillyard 
David Cumming

Corporate Innovation 
Performance 
Recovery 
Information Technology 
Digital
Project Management 

Vulnerability

Steve James
Lead

Hannah Hooks 
Samantha Armitage

Community services 
Grant giving 
Community Safety 
Early Help 
Domestic Abuse 
Housing allocation 
Housing Options 
Rough Sleepers
Homelessness
Community Development 
Health and Wellbeing

Andrew Holdsworth Lead

Economy

Cassie Ruffell 
Jack Weaver

Skills 
Investment 
Local Centres 
External Funding (shared) 

Economic Intelligence
Business Grants
Economic Recovery 
Business Support 
Business Engagement

Growth and 
Development

Ralph Burton 
Lead

Resources

Susie Richardson
Alison Chubbock 151

Lead

Samantha Armitage

Training &Development 
HR
Section 151 
Finance 
BTS
Member Development

Governance

Mark Stinson (shared)
Lead 

Richard Shepherd (shared)
Sarah 
Wolstenholme-Smy 
(Shared)
Rory Ringer

Legal
Contracts and 
Procurement
Elections 
DPO (shared)
Democratic Services 
Deputy monitoring officer
Safeguarding (shared) 

Simon Wood
Stephen Scowen 
2 x new posts Executive 
Delivery Manager
Executive Housing 
Manager 

Commercial Property 
Strategic housing 
Strategic planning 
Breckland Bridge 
Delivery Programme:
Large Infrastructure 
Projects ie Thetford HIF, 
Attleborough and 
Snetterton Power 

20



Shared Management Roadmap
COVID19 Pandemic response/recovery 

2020/21

Response:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Place Based CMT

Place based senior management

00 01 02 03

Transition:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Place Based CMT

Shared CIP, Legal & Contracts

Place based senior management

04 05 06

Recovery:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

CMT with shared oversight 

Shared CIP, Legal & Contracts

Place based senior management 

07 08 09

Normalisation:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Shared CMT

Shared CIP, Legal & Contracts

Place based senior management 

10 11 12

Completion:

Shared CX

Shared Policy Officer

Shared CMT

Shared senior management

Start
MarJan FebMar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov

Finish
Dec

Breckland and South Holland District Councils 15.05.2020

21



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member Finance & Growth 

To: Cabinet, 1 June 2020

Author: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant

Subject: Financial implications of Covid-19

Purpose: To update on the potential financial implications resulting from the Covid-
19 pandemic

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet note the report and financial implications to the Council.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides an overview of the current assessment of the emerging financial 
impact to the council from the Covid-19 pandemic.  The financial position and national 
picture is constantly changing therefore the values included in this report must be seen in 
this context and will be subject to change over the coming months.

1.2 The Government has announced two tranches of funding to date of £1.6bn each to 
support local authority finances.  Breckland has received a total of £1,473k from this 
funding.  Despite this value seeming high, the Council is facing considerable challenges 
from both additional costs and from reduced income and this funding is unlikely to cover 
our losses to the end of June and certainly will not cover losses from July onwards unless 
additional funding is provided.  

The financial challenges arise from different areas:
 Costs – cost pressures from increasing demand such as temporary housing 

accommodation, housing benefit, exceptional costs such as community support 
work and communications and contractual costs.

 Income – significant lost income in fees and charges (planning, building control, 
ARP enforcement, etc) and rent holiday/waiver requests from commercial property 
tenants.

 Savings – the current years savings plans are at high risk of non-delivery as focus 
has been diverted in order to manage the pandemic response.

 Investments – loss of investment income from reduced interest rates and prioritising 
short term deposits to maximise liquidity.

 Funding – falls in collection rates on council tax and NNDR and an increase in 
LCTRS demand could have a significant impact in the funding due to the council.

1.3 Appendix A provides our current high level estimates of additional costs and lost income 
pressures under three different time frame scenarios, 3, 6 and 9 months duration allowing 
for the Government funding already received.  Each of these scenarios shows a cost 
pressure to the Council which will need to be funded from either reserves, budget savings 
elsewhere or future government funding (if any is released).

22

Agenda Item 8



There is a high degree of uncertainty within these forecasts and they will continue to be 
refined as the situation develops both locally and nationally.  

1.4 In order to ensure the Council can manage these pressures in this ever changing 
environment, work will be carried out in the coming month with budget managers to review 
each budget line to identify areas of saving which can be re-allocated to current priorities 
which will change and adapt to the latest situation, ensuring the Council can respond 
quickly.  The capital programme will also be reviewed to determine timings and priority of 
existing projects.  This will be done in conjunction with the Recovery Cell work to ensure 
focus on future priorities is given.

However, it is highly likely that the Council will have to draw on reserves in the current year 
and potentially next year in order to balance the budget.  Our reserves are mainly allocated 
to specific projects already, with only a limited amount available.  The General fund 
currently holds £2,500k which is our minimum balance, so we may need to review the 
minimum balance required for future.  

Appendix A shows the level of un-allocated reserves which are held for emergency 
purposes (such as this) including the General Fund.  Whilst we could draw on our General 
Fund to some degree it would not be prudent to use all of it in case of future emergencies.  
The table shows that we would be able to cover the pressures from a 3 or 6 month impact, 
but not for any longer.  Although budget savings will be utilised initially where possible, 
especially to re-divert to exceptional costs and new priorities.

If our lost income and spend exceeds these values then we will need to draw on other 
areas such as the Inclusive Growth Reserve and Growth & Investment reserve.  Drawing 
on these reserves will result in pressures on achieving savings in future with no funds 
remaining to invest in property, growth or savings initiatives.  It will also impact on our ability 
to deliver key projects such as our vulnerability plans.  Currently we have £500k allocated 
but available in the Inclusive growth reserve and £1,600k in the growth and investment 
reserve.  
Additionally we could choose to re-prioritise some projects from these reserves to allocate 
funding to our new priorities and this work will also take place over the coming months.

1.5 MHCLG have created a data collection exercise aimed to provide Government with up to 
date information on how existing funding is being used and the changes in income and 
expenditure for Councils.  The 1st collection exercise was carried out in April and has been 
refined for the 2nd collection in May.  To date there have been inconsistencies in how the 
returns were completed nationally due to differing interpretations on the form requirements 
and it is hoped that the consistency will improve as further collection exercises are carried 
out.  

Breckland and other national groups such as DCN and LGA continue to lobby Government 
to highlight our cost pressures in the hope that further funding will be forthcoming so that 
the cost burden does not fall onto the Council Tax payers of Breckland or impact on our 
future service delivery.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That Cabinet note the report and financial implications to the Council.

2.2 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

23



3.1 This report is for information purposes.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To provide an overview of the current assessment of the emerging financial impact to the 
council from the Covid-19 pandemic.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of 
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Financial 
The report is of a financial nature & includes information within the report.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 DCN – District Councils Network
7.2 LCTRS – Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme
7.3 LGA – Local Government Association
7.4 MHCLG – Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: Alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to Mandatory Service & Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Financial Summary

24



Appendix A

Current high level estimates of additional costs and lost income

Covid-19 Estimated Financial Position - Optimistic (3 month impact)

 

Total 1 
March to 

30 June 20

Addn costs/ lost 
income July 20 

to March 21
Total Known 
costs to Date

Additional Covid-19 related spend 452,197 417,666 869,863
Lost income - optimistic 1,351,122 0 1,351,122 
Additional funding (1,493,814) 0 (1,493,814) 
Overall Total 309,505 417,666 727,171
     

Covid-19 Estimated Financial Position - Realistic (6 month impact)

 

Total 1 
March to 

30 June 20

Addn costs/ lost 
income July 20 

to March 21
Total Known 
costs to Date

Additional Covid-19 related spend 452,197 792,336 1,244,533 
Lost income - realistic 1,510,008 1,510,008 3,020,016 
Additional funding (1,493,814) 0 (1,493,814) 
Overall Total 468,391  2,302,344 2,770,735 
     

Covid-19 Estimated Financial Position - Pessmistic (9 month impact)

 

Total 1 
March to 

30 June 20

Addn costs/ lost 
income July 20 

to March 21
Total Known 
costs to Date

Additional Covid-19 related spend 452,197 1,167,006 1,619,203 
Lost income - pessimistic 1,782,981 3,565,962 5,348,943 
Additional funding (1,493,814) 0 (1,493,814) 
Overall Total 741,364  4,732,968 5,474,332 
     

Emergency Reserve Un-allocated Balance at 1April 2020

Reserve Available Balance
General Fund Balance 2,500,000 
Buffer Fund Available 275,585 
Revenues & NNDR Reserve 1,448,365 
BALANCES 4,223,950 

It would not be prudent us use all of the General Fund reserve, but part could be used.

25



Assumptions used to forecast lost income

Assumed Reduction
Income Area 9 months 6 months 3 months

Planning Income 75% 50% 30%
Building Control Income 50% 25% 10%
Land Charges Income 50% 25% 10%
HB Subsidy homelessness 50% 25% 10%
ARP Enforcement income 75% 50% 25%
Efficiency Target not achieved 100% 75% 50%
Recycling Income 20% 10% 5%
Garden Waste Subs & Recycling 20% 10% 5%
Interest on B Bridge Loans 75% 25% 0%
Interest income 100% 85% 50%
Licensing 75% 50% 19%
Council Tax Income (5% share) 10% 5% 0%
NNDR Income (40% share) 10% 5% 0%
CP rental income 35% 17% 10%
Dereham Bus Ctr rental income 25% 15% 10%
Thetford Bus Ctr rental income 10% 5% 2%

26



That Cabinet:

1. RESOLVES to undertake a full Review of the Breckland Local Plan by 
November 2024

2. APPROVES the adoption of the Local Development Scheme which is to have 
effect from 1 June 2020

3. DELEGATES authority to the Executive Director (Place) following consultation 
with the Executive Member for Planning to make and approve any final 
changes to the wording and content of the Local Development Scheme, and to 
publish the Local Development Scheme on the Councils website. 

4. DELEGATES authority to the Executive Director (Place) following consultation 
with the Executive Member for Planning to approve any minor changes to the 
timelines of the production of documents in Local Development Scheme as 
required by the process during the period 2020-2024.

5. FOLLOWING a recommendation of the Local Plan Working Group that the 
Leader of the Council sends a letter to the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government expressing concerns on the short time scales allowed 
for the review of the Local Plan exacerbated by the restrictions in place as a 
result of the Covid-19 pandemic 

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Paul Claussen, Executive Member for Planning 

To: Cabinet – 1 June 2020

Author: Andrew D’Arcy, Planning Policy Manager 

Subject: Breckland Local Plan Review (Local Development Scheme)

Purpose: To secure formal member approval to adopt the Breckland Local Plan 
Review (Local Development Scheme)

1 BACKGROUND 

1.1 Maintaining an up to date Local Plan is a statutory requirement and will help the Council 
meet its strategic priorities. The Local Plan forms part of the development plan and 
enables the Council to provide the needs of the community, enhancing the rural and 
urban economy and protecting the district’s natural environment. The Local Plan 
provides a framework for development in the District to seek to ensure that Breckland’s 
growth is sustainable and meets the needs of the existing and future populations. The 
plan allocates land for housing and employment growth, defines policies that will be used 
to shape the type of growth in the district, and sets out how the council wishes to see the 
district develop in spatial form over the next 16 years.

1.2 Local planning authorities are required to prepare and maintain a Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) under Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

1.3 This report seeks approval for the updated LDS for 2020-2024. Preparation of the Local 
Plan Review began in 2020 and will be the subject of a series of public consultations. 27

Agenda Item 11



2. CONTEXT

2.1 The existing Local Plan was adopted in November 2019. One of the policies in the Plan 
(INF03) requires an immediate review of the Plan with regard to: Policy HOU 01 
‘Development Requirements’; Policy HOU 08 ‘Gypsies and Travellers’; Policy HOU 10 
‘Technical Design Standards for New Homes’; and Policy EC 01 ‘Economic 
Development’

;
Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review 

The Council will undertake an immediate partial review of the Plan, with 
regard to the following matters

 Policy HOU 01 Development Requirements (minimum): To consider 
housing need and the subsequent strategy for meeting the identified 
need. 

 Policy HOU 08 Gypsy and Travellers: To consider the needs of non 
travelling gypsy and travellers and identify suitable provision to meet 
such a need. 

 Policy HOU 10 Technical Design Standards for New Homes: To 
consider the accessibility of homes standards. 

 Policy EC 01 Economic Development: To consider the effect of the 
dualling of the A47 on the Plan’s economic strategy. 

The partial review of the Plan will be submitted for examination 3 years after 
the date of adoption of this Plan or by November 2022, whichever is 
soonest. In the event that the review is not submitted for examination by 
this time, then the Council’s policies that relate to the supply of housing, 
economic development and gypsy and travellers will be deemed to be out-
of-date.

2.2 In its White Paper ‘Planning for the Future (March 2020) the Government signalled its 
intention for all local authorities to have an up-to-date local plan by December 2023. The 
Inspector states that if the Council does not submit a review of the Plan covering those 
elements set out in the Policy by November 2022 then policies relating to the supply of 
housing, economic development and gypsy and travellers will be deemed to be out of 
date. The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) introduced a statutory requirement, under Regulation 10A, that from 6 April 
2018 Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) must review their Local Plan within five years of 
the date of adoption. 

2.3 Just because a plan is older than 5 years does not mean that the whole plan is 
automatically out of date. Certain kinds of policies are, by their nature, more likely to avoid 
being considered out-of-date notwithstanding the fact that a plan period has expired. 
Examples include those relating to design and environmental policies. Whilst the passage 
of time is relevant to a policy being considered out-of-date, the real question is whether 
the passage of time has resulted in a change of circumstances such that the policy is no 
longer consistent with the NPPF or delivering results on the ground. Both are a matter of 
planning judgment. It is therefore important to note that although the policies relating to 
the topics highlighted by the Inspector in Policy INF03 will be deemed to be out of date 
the remainder of the policies in the Plan that are judged to be consistent with the prevalent 
national policy at the time will remain up to date and that the exercise required by the 
NPPF is not one which is dictated simply by the passage of time, but rather an 
assessment of consistency of the Framework, and the factual circumstances in which the 
policy is being applied    

2.4 There are some options available to the Council in terms of the scope and timescales 28



for the review and these are discussed in this Report.  These were discussed at informal 
meetings of the Local Plan Working Group held on 2 March and May 14 2020 and the 
recommendations of that Group are reflected in this Report. The government will 
prepare to intervene where local authorities fail to meet the deadline in accordance with 
the existing statutory powers, considering appropriate action on a case by case basis. 

2.5 In essence the options are:

 Submit a ‘Partial Review’ by November 2022 (and meet the deadline set in INF03);

 Submit a ‘Full Review’ by November 2022 (and meet the deadline set in INF03);

 Complete a ‘Full Review’ by November 2024 (and miss the November 2022 
deadline);

 Commence a ‘Full Review’ with a target date of adoption by November 2024; and, 
concurrently, incorporate, as a sub-set, the Local Plan Policy INF 03 policies review 
for submission by November 2022. 

 Submit a ‘Partial Review’ by November 2022, and to then consecutively, undertake 
the ‘Full Review’ by November 2024;

 Submit an updated Plan by November 2022, and to then undertake a ‘Full Review’ 
within 5 years from the adoption of the updated Plan.

3.      KEY RISKS AND ISSUES

3.1 In considering these options there are some key risks and issues involved in preparing 
the new Local Plan. Some risks are within the ‘control’ of the Council but others are not. 
These could affect the timetable to a greater or lesser extent. The key risks and issues 
are as follows:

Securing a timely housing requirement and completion of subsequent Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment

3.2 The current Local Plan included a locally derived housing target based on evidence from 
the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment. In February 2019, the 
Government adopted and rolled out a new ‘standard method’ for calculating the minimum 
housing need for every local authority in the UK. The main reasons for this change was 
to seek to ensure that the national target of delivering 300,000 houses per year was 
achieved and to simplify and rationalise the approach towards determining housing need 
for local areas. 

3.3 The standard method uses a formula to identify the minimum number of homes expected 
to be planned for, in a way which addresses projected household growth and historic 
under-supply.

3.4 The National Planning Policy Framework expects strategic policy-making authorities to 
follow the standard method in this guidance for assessing local housing need.

3.5 The 2014 based requirement for Breckland was 681 dwellings per annum. The more 
recent 2016 based figure rose to 770 dwellings per annum.  However, the standard 
methodology, based on the 2016 household projection figures, showed that overall need 
in England was significantly lower, at 212,000, than the Government’s stated desire to 
provide 300,000 new houses every year. As a consequence, the Government has 
committed to revise the standard method as follows:

In the short-term, the 2014 data will provide the demographic baseline for assessment of 
local housing need; otherwise, the current method remains unaltered. In the long-term, a 
review of the formula will be undertaken to identify a new method, to be completed prior 
to release of the 2018-based household projections in 2020.

29



3.6 The Government remains committed to delivering 300,000 new houses each year, it is 
therefore possible that the review could result in a higher housing figure for Breckland 
than that set out under the 2014 base. It is therefore very important to note that this 681 
figure may change as the review of the Plan progresses and this could have implications 
for the evidence base underpinning the Plan, the consequent development strategy, 
including the numbers of new housing allocations that may be required. 

3.7 It is not yet known what the implications will be on the housing requirement for Breckland 
or when the review, and new figure, will be completed. 

Agreeing a viable and deliverable Development Strategy with appropriate Council 
and community that accommodates any new housing requirement and that also 
delivers a 5 year housing land supply

3.8 The extended Plan period (to 2041) and likely increase in the annual housing need figure 
will require the new Plan to make additional allocations for both housing and employment 
uses. In addition the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) requires plans to 
allocate smaller sites. 

3.9 The Council will need to consider, agree upon and consult on an appropriate 
development strategy covering both the urban and rural areas.

Changes to national Planning Policy / Planning White Paper (uncertain as to when 
and implications) and new considerations for the Plan

3.10 The Government is proposing reforms to the planning system in 2020. This was heralded 
in Planning for the Future (March 2020) that sets out the Government's plans for housing 
and planning following the announcements in the 2020 Budget. It is unclear as to when 
these reforms will be published, what implications they will have for the preparation of 
local plans, and what, if any, transitional arrangements may be put in place. A further 
consideration that the Government may consider is the planning implications of the recent 
Covid-19 outbreak and how these may be brought forward into plan making. 

3.11 For example, the Government / Council could consider:

 revising its current policy of centralising the location of development to the most 
sustainable locations as the decentralisation of services and reducing density could 
be a way to combat disease spread;

 requiring plans to leave small parcels of land available, in case temporary medical 
facilities are required in the future

 promoting more local food production through the greater provision of allotments 
and protection of agricultural land;

 enabling greater flexibility for town centre uses (as online shopping further 
increases) and for shops or cafes to reopen as "touch down" space or to broaden 
the range of services on offer;

 further increases in permitted development rights to demolish office and industrial 
buildings for new residential blocks. These could be introduced to help rebuild the 
economy;

 changes to the design of new housing to include studies and family workspaces as 
well as an increase in residential extensions and curtilage buildings to be used as 
garden offices;

 revisions to the delivery of strategic infrastructure due to any significant reduction 
in both road and rail travel; 

 Whether there will be a relaxation in permitted development rights for masts and 
technology to enable faster deployment to assist in remote working

3.12 Further changes to National Planning Policy, including some or all of the above, could 
give rise to a need for amended or additional evidence that could affect the timetable. 

30



The previous planning system was amended on several occasions which altered the 
formal stages of document preparation. 

Duty to Co-operate / securing statements of common ground with key external 
stakeholders in developing the Plan (Utilities / NCC /Statutory consultees)

3.13 The Council is reliant on close dialogue and co-operation with and from key stakeholders. 
Timely discussions and agreement with these organisations cannot be guaranteed and 
responses could result in a need for revisions to the development strategy.  

5 Year Housing Land Supply

3.14 As set out previously Policy INF 03 of the adopted Plan sets out the minimum 
requirements for a Review. The Policy also states that the new Plan should be submitted 
for examination by November 2022. In the event that the review is not submitted for 
examination by this time, then the Council’s policies that relate to the supply of housing, 
economic development and gypsy and travelers will be deemed to be out-of-date. It is 
therefore critical to note that if the Review is not submitted by November 2022 then these 
policies would be deemed to be out of date irrespective of whether the Council can 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land or not. If the Council can demonstrate a 
robust 5 year housing land supply and have submitted the Review by November 2022 
then the current housing requirement of 612 dwellings p/a would remain in place through 
to adoption (assuming the 5 year housing land supply was retained). 

3.15 If the Council does not submit the review in accordance with Policy INF 03, or is unable 
to demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land then para 11(d) of the NPPF will apply. 
That refers to the ‘tilted balance’ which is applied when ‘the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out of date’ 

3.16 Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF sets out that policies “which are most important for 
determining the application” are out-of-date when the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (otherwise referred to as ‘the 
tilted balance’). 

“11. Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.
 […]
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies [the first trigger], or the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date [the second 
trigger]7, granting permission unless:
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed6;
or ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole” 
[footnotes not included in quote].

3.17 It does not follow automatically that just because one of the policies for determining an 
application is out of date, the tilted balance must be applied and permission granted. The 
NPPF does not specifically determine whether the titled balance applies when ‘one of’ or 
‘any of’ the most important policies are out of date. The Local Planning Authority must 
form an overall judgement about the most important policies and whether or not, taken 
as a whole, these policies are to be regarded as out-of-date for the purpose of making a 
decision. If they were out-of-date, then the ‘tilted balance’ or presumption in favour of 
development would be triggered. 

31



3.18 Therefore, the ‘tilted balance’ or presumption in favour can only be triggered when 
policies are considered collectively to be out-of-date. 

Staff Resources and Project Management

3.19 Breckland Council has strong corporate commitment to the adoption of a new Local Plan, 
and the importance of this work is recognised and supported across the authority. The 
Plan will be produced by the Council’s Planning Service, with the work being led by the 
Planning Policy team. The service is supported by the specialist technical skills and 
knowledge of other teams, including Housing, Environmental Protection and 
Regeneration. Staff turnover, the national lack of qualified planners and increasing need 
for staff to specialise all pose medium risks to the timetable if one or more members of 
the team were to leave the team. The loss of staff with significant local knowledge may 
take time to replace. Therefore, staff retention and replacement are priorities for the 
service and this aspect will be managed to ensure that the timetable for the Local Plan is 
not put at risk. As the Council’s planning service is delivered by Capita, there is potential 
scope to use resources elsewhere within the company to minimise this element of risk 
should it arise. 

3.20 The Council will seek to use its processes of community involvement and engagement 
and its Duty to Cooperate activities and organisations to help inform and develop the 
plan, making effective use of intelligence and resources. This will include the preparation 
of Statements of Common Ground in relation to strategic cross border planning matters. 
Officers will hold early discussions with neighbouring local planning authorities and other 
statutory organisations regarding the preparation of Statements of Common Ground. The 
plan will be supported by a comprehensive evidence base, including housing, 
employment, retail, transport, heritage, infrastructure, viability and the natural 
environment. 

3.21 The Council has established management and reporting structures to support the 
delivery of the local plan, including the use of briefings and reporting to senior managers 
and members throughout the plan preparation process. Risk management is integral to 
reporting and monitoring. The Planning Service regularly reviews work streams on the 
local plan, to take account of new legislation and significant changes in the local context. 
There is a dedicated member working group supporting the production of the local plan. 

3.22 There will be a significant financial commitment required to complete the review of the 
Plan including an updated sustainability appraisal and evidence base, preparation of 
documents and a future examination. The Council will need to commit to this expenditure 
in order for the Plan to be prepared in a timely manner.

. Other issues
 
3.23 Whilst the existing Local Plan is recently adopted there are a number of areas where a 

review is both necessary and desirable. Central to these will be the need to consider a 
revised development strategy based on the new standardised housing number. The 
principal focus should be on place making for our communities to ensure that 
development and associated infrastructure is delivered through a plan led approach 
which ensures development of the right quality, in the right place, to meet identified needs 
of communities at the right time. It is considered that in addition to the areas required as 
part of the Review set out above, there should be a much stronger focus on the 
environment and in particular climate change. 

3.24 The current pandemic could affect the Council’s ability to produce an effective Plan and 
is also likely to affect the delivery of development and in particular that of new housing 
either as a consequence of lack of construction activity and/or a more general economic 
downturn. House builders will only build new housing that there is a market for. This 
could, in turn, have a negative impact on a council’s ability to demonstrate a 5 year supply 
of housing. There are a number of questions currently being raised with central 32



government including:

 Whether there is a need for a change in legislation around preparing local plans, in 
particular extending the period required to complete work, especially if public 
consultation is delayed or carried out using alternative methods

 Will there be flexibility on the Local Plan Review timescales due to likely future delays 
in preparation processes, which need to be addressed;

 Will the Government consider relaxing rules around 5-year land supply, given that so 
little housebuilding is going on at the moment. Delivery rates directly affect 5-year 
land supply and the uncertainty around how many houses will be delivered as house 
builders are delivering fewer homes during this time and thereafter due to the need 
for social distancing rules and if there is a wider economic recession;

 Will the Government ease expectations on the numbers of homes to be
built this year especially as one of the constraints on the construction industry is on 
people being able to buy/sell properties and move to a new house

3.25 The Council will consider new and alternative ways of undertaking public consultation 
including greater use of social media and digital tools. This will enable it to continue 
with consultations, whilst meeting statutory requirements, potentially engage a wider 
audience who might be disenfranchised from the process, and also reach those not 
able to attend a traditional public consultation event.

4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 It is clear that the Council needs to review the whole Plan within 5 years. The issue is 
whether the Inspector’s requirements under Policy INF 03 should be considered 
separately (as a sub-set) in order that the timetable set by the Inspector can be met 
(November 2022). The partial Review (prepared as a subset to a full review) would only 
cover those areas raised under Policy INF03 and those pertinent parts of the NPPF. For 
the housing element of the Review, this would comprise:

 A call for sites exercise
 Confirmation of the housing requirement (expected September 2020)
 A viability and deliverability review of any remaining housing allocations in the Plan 

including Attleborough and Thetford
 ‘Oven ready’ allocations in towns and rural areas including small allocations These 

would need to be deliverable within the 5 year period from adoption to ensure a 5 
year land supply is demonstrated

4.2 A Full review (prepared as a single document) would consider all the required elements 
and in addition would consider:

 Strategic allocation (s)  
 An approach to allow for defined forms of development on sites outside boundaries 

including Starter homes, Specialist needs, self and custom build, entry level or single 
plot dwellings, residential/nursing care 

 Employment allocations (Snetterton / Dereham)
 New policies on Climate Change and other areas that the Council considers important
 Full review of DM policies

4.3 Apart from the resource implications of possible options, there are also some potential 
legal / procedural risks that need to be addressed. In particular these relate to the 
approach that the Planning Inspectorate would take were a sub-set of the Plan be 
submitted prior to the remainder of the Plan. If this were to happen PINS would have 3 
options:

33



 Reject the submission as the sub-set could not be examined without full knowledge 
of the content of the remainder of the Plan (and in particular policies that may impact 
on viability of sites contained in the sub-set)

 Place the submitted Plan on hold and only hold the examination once the remainder 
of the Plan is submitted

 Hold the examination on the submitted part

4.4 Following informal discussions with PINS the following conclusions can be drawn:

 The decision on how to proceed with an examination lies with the individual Inspector 
and not PINS

 PINS is not aware of any other areas where a sub-set’ approach has been used
 Submitting a sub-set for examination is likely to be problematic 
 An inspector is unlikely to hold a submitted Plan in abeyance until the remainder of 

the Plan is submitted as they are duty bound to open the examination and then could 
either

o Continue with the examination 
o Suspend the examination until further evidence is completed
o Close the examination and reject the Plan as submitted and return to the 

Council.  

4.5 On balance, and in light of the critical risks and issues set out in this Report it is 
considered that it is unrealistic to aim to produce a robust Plan for submission by 
November 2022 and that the Council should undertake a full review of the Plan with a 
target date of November 2024. The advantages of this approach are:

 Council decisions will likely be better informed (appropriate evidence base and DTC 
likely) and if necessary consultation could take place on different options

 Public consultation could be more extensive than that required to meet the minimum 
required to meet statutory requirements.

 There is more robustness in the approach as critical risks are more likely to be able 
to be more successfully managed given the extended time period for production

 Enables the Council to consider additional strands of new policy development  
 Enables full consideration to be given to all aspects of the Plan Review in a single 

document thereby removing any concerns that PINS may have regarding 
examination of a split Plan  

4.6 However, it is important to note that adopting this timetable would result in the policies 
listed under Policy INF03  being considered out of date from November 2022 and the 
‘tilted balance’ would apply until adoption of the new Plan. In addition, depending on the 
outcome of the critical risks set out in this Report and in particular any longer term effects 
of the Covid-19 pandemic on the ability of local planning authorities to prepare effective 
plans with community involvement and the state of the local economy to deliver 
development there is no certainty that this date will be achieved. The Local Development 
Scheme will be monitored and updated if necessary.

5. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME

5.1 The LDS (Appendix 1) (2020 - 2024) reflects the timeframe for the production of the Local 
plan Review and supersedes the previous LDS (2018) which had been prepared to 
ensure that the Council had an up to date LDS for the Local Plan Examination. 

5.2 This LDS (2020 - 2024) provides a formal work programme of the planning documents 
set to be produced during the timeframe including where necessary, reviews of adopted 
documents. The LDS does not include details of other planning policy documents that 
the Council may be involved with including any neighbourhood plans or supplementary 
planning documents (SPD) that once completed will form part of or complement the 
development plan. For example, the Council is preparing SPDs on affordable housing, 
design and developer contributions. 

34



5.3 The LDS provides opportunities for the local community and stakeholders to be involved 
in preparing planning policies by setting out an indicative timetable for the preparation of 
each document. 

5.4 Preparing the LDS also enables the Council to make financial provision for its plan-
making role and the work that needs to be undertaken in order to deliver it statutory 
obligations. 

6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 All public authorities are required by s.149 of the Equality Act 2010 (EA 2010) to have 
due regard to the need to (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the EA 2010; (b) advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it; and (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

6.2 Policies, procedures and service delivery may have differential impacts on certain groups 
with protected characteristics, and these will be highlighted in an Equalities Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) screening that will be prepared as part of the preparation of the Plan. 
Likely differential impacts will be highlighted, and described, as some may be positive. 
Where likely significant adverse differential impacts are identified, consideration will be 
given to opportunities to reduce or mitigate this through a full equalities impact 
assessment.

6.3 In considering the Review of the Plan, the Inspector will have regard to the provisions of 
the 2010 Act and the Council will undertake and maintain an EqIA screening to inform 
the Plan. 

7. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 Local planning authorities are required to prepare and maintain a Local Development 
Scheme under Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011 and the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 4.2 The 
current LDS approved in 2018 does not reflect the Council’s intention to review the Plan. 

Other options considered: 

7.2 The option of not publishing an up to date LDS has been rejected as the current version 
is out of date and does not reflect the latest time table for the preparation of the Local 
Plan and the legal requirement to have an up to date LDS.

  8. IMPLICATIONS

8.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below.

Corporate Priorities

8.2 The Review of the Breckland Local Plan will make a positive contribution to the 
delivery of the Breckland Corporate Plan, namely through contributing towards the 
following objectives;

Your place 35



 To deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local 
Plan, in conjunction with our key partners

 Work with our partners to ensure that key infrastructure such as roads including 
the A47, rail links, broadband and telecommunications in the district are 
improved enabling us to be a location of choice

 Enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local 
needs and aspirations to ensure that our residents including veterans have 
access to a range of housing options in the district

Your Health and Wellbeing

Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the tenure
 Maintain our current leisure provision but explore where we can enhance the 

provision of this across the district

Your Opportunity

 Develop and deliver a clear strategy for ‘Invest in Breckland’ with a view to 
supporting the growth of businesses located within the district, whilst also 
working proactively to attract new inward investment that can bring further 
prosperity to Breckland

 Work with our partners to stimulate housing and employment development in 
our major growth areas, with a particular focus on Thetford, Snetterton and 
Attleborough

.

Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales

8.3 The Council is required by the regulations to make the LDS available to the public. Copies 
are available for inspection at the Council’s offices in Dereham. The LDS is also available 
to view on the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s website [www.breckland.gov.uk].

Financial implications and risks: 

8.4 There will be a significant financial commitment required to complete the review of the 
Plan including an updated sustainability appraisal and evidence base, preparation of 
documents and a future examination. The Council will need to commit to this 
expenditure in order for the Plan to be prepared in a timely manner.

Legal implications and risks 

8.5 The Local Planning Authority is required pursuant to section 15 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) to prepare, revise and make a Local 
Development Scheme available to the public. This Duty by necessity also requires the 
Council to ensure that the Local Development Scheme is maintained as an up to date 
document, pursuant to section 15 subsection 9A of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). 

8.6 A Local Development Scheme must specify the development plan documents which 
when prepared, will comprise the Development Plan for the area. A Local Development 
Scheme, comprises the combination of strategic policies and non-strategic policies and 
consequently include the Local Plan. The draft Local Development Scheme the forms 
the appendix to this Cabinet report, correctly includes and identifies the relevant 
documents. 

8.7     There is a risk that by not ensuring an up to date Local Development Scheme is published 
and available to the public that the Council will be found to be in breach of its statutory 
duties. Approval of the Local Development Scheme is recommended. 

9. WARDS / COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 36



9.1 All

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1 None

11. LEAD CONTACT OFFICER

Name and Post: Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 

Telephone Number: 01362 656870

Email: Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk

12. KEY DECISION

12.1 No

13. EXEMPT DECISION

13.1 No

14.   APPENDICES

  Local Development Scheme (2020 – 2024)

37

mailto:Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk


Breckland Local Plan Review
Local Development Scheme

May 2020

38



1. Introduction

Background

1.1 The government requires local planning authorities to prepare a Local 
Development Scheme   (LDS). The LDS is a five year project plan and this 
version covers the period 2020-2025.  The purpose of a LDS includes setting 
out the timetable for the delivery of Council produced planning policy 
documents. These are often referred to as Development Plan Documents or 
Local Plans. During the period 2020-2024, the Council intends to produce a 
review of the Breckland Local Plan (November 2019). The Local Plan Review 
(LPR), as this document will be known, will affect the whole of Breckland 
District. 

1.2 This LDS contains a timetable for the delivery of the LPR to inform local people 
and stakeholders of the key milestones in its production.

 
1.3 This LDS was approved by Cabinet on xx xx 2020 and came into effect on the 

same day. This iteration of the LDS supersedes previous versions of the LDS 
and covers the period 2020-2025.

2. The Existing Development Plan

2.1 Development Plans are an important part of the English planning system and 
are needed to guide the local decision making process for land uses and 
development proposals.   

2.2 At March 2020, the Development Plan for Breckland comprised     

 Breckland Local Plan and associated Policies Map (November 2019) 

2.3 Breckland District Council adopted the Breckland Local Plan on November 28th 
2019 to replace the suite of plans produced as part of the Local Development 
Framework process and is now in the process of undertaking a Local Plan 
review. The Local Plan sets out the framework for development within the 
District until 2036. It includes a spatial vision, objectives and key policies. It also 
includes an associated ‘Policies Map’ that sets out the geographical extent of 
key designations and site specific proposals set out in the local plan. 

Further information on the Local Plan can be found at the following link:

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/adoption

 Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009) (Saved 
policies)

 Thetford Area Action Plan (2012) (Saved policies)

Further information on these plans can be found at the following link:

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/previous-local-plan

39

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/adoption
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/previous-local-plan


 Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036 (January 2018)
 Croxton, Brettenham and Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2036 

(January 2019)
 Mattishall Neighbourhood Plan 2017 – 2036 (November 2017)
 Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan 2016 - 2036 (May 2019)
 Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan 2016 - 2036 (December 2019)
 Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 2016 – 2036 (June 2017)

2.4 The Localism Act (2011) provides the opportunity for communities to prepare 
Neighbourhood Plans to guide further development that they may wish to see 
in their communities. Neighbourhood Plans, once adopted, form part of the 
Development Plan for the area and are used in the determination of Planning 
Applications. Neighbourhood Plans1 are prepared by Town and Parish Councils 
to address key local priorities. Their key milestones are specific to each 
document. The regulations do not require neighbourhood plans to be included 
within the LDS.

2.5 Neighbourhood Development Plans are prepared by Parish Councils and the 
plans are subject to consultation, independent examination and referendum. 
The plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 
adopted local plan, and should have regard to any emerging Local Plan. 

2.6 A neighbourhood area has to be designated for a Neighbourhood Development 
Plan to be produced. In total, 13 Parish Councils (1 joint with 3 parishes) have 
designated Neighbourhood Areas. To date, 6 Neighbourhood Plans have been 
made and the remaining 7 are at various stages of preparation.

Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following 
link:

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans

 Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (July 2016)

2.7 The adopted Norfolk Minerals and Waste Development Framework contains 
the following three minerals and waste planning policy documents and a 
policies map.  These documents contain policies for use in making decisions 
on planning applications for mineral extraction and associated development 
and waste management facilities, and in the selection of specific site allocations 
in Norfolk:

 Core Strategy and Minerals and Waste Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document 2010-2026 (adopted September 2011)

 Minerals Site Specific Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) 
(adopted October 2013, amendments adopted December 2017)

 Waste Site Specific Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) 
(adopted October 2013)

40

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans


 Revised PDF policies map and the revised interactive policies map which 
includes the Site Specific Allocations and an interactive map of Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas. 

Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following 
link:

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-
and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-
policies/adopted-policy-documents

2.8 The County Council is preparing a Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
Review, to consolidate the three adopted plans into one Local Plan, ensure that 
the policies within them remain up-to-date and to extend the plan period to the 
end of 2036. 

Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following 
link:

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-
and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-
policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review  

Other Planning Documents

2.9 In addition to the above components of the Development Plan, there are other 
key planning documents that the Council can produce. These include: 

 Supplementary Planning Documents – these set out further information, 
interpretation or clarification regarding existing planning policies and are 
produced and adopted by the Council in accordance with government 
requirements  

 Planning policy guidance – these set out further information, interpretation 
or clarification regarding existing planning policies but have not been 
produced to meet government Supplementary Planning Document 
requirements  

 Statement of Community Involvement – a procedural document that sets out 
the methods    for consultation and engagement with the public and 
stakeholders. This includes consultation    and engagement during the 
production of Local Plans, the production of Neighbourhood Development 
Plans, and the Development Management process.  

 Authority Monitoring Reports – a procedural document, produced on an 
annual basis that monitors performance against the Local Plan. 

2.10 In Breckland the Planning Team are currently preparing supplementary 
planning documents on Affordable Housing (in conjunction with the Council’s 
Housing Team), Developer Contributions and Design. 

2.11 The Council also prepares two additional documents: a Statement of 
Community Involvement detailing how people will be involved in the planning 

41

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/adopted-policy-documents
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/adopted-policy-documents
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/adopted-policy-documents
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review


system; and a Monitoring Report that considers how effectively the Local Plan 
policies are being implemented.

3 Key Issue in the LDS

Local Plan Review

3.1 The Local Plan was found sound following independent examination and was 
adopted by Full Council on 28 November 2019. The Plan contains Policy INF 
03. This requires an immediate review of the local plan covering 4 key areas. 

3.2 The Policy states:

Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review 

The Council will undertake an immediate partial review of the Plan, with 
regard to the following matters

 Policy HOU 01 Development Requirements (minimum): To 
consider housing need and the subsequent strategy for meeting 
the identified need. 

 Policy HOU 08 Gypsy and Travellers: To consider the needs of 
nontravelling gypsy and travellers and identify suitable provision 
to meet such a need. 

 Policy HOU 10 Technical Design Standards for New Homes: To 
consider the accessibility of homes standards. 

 Policy EC 01 Economic Development: To consider the effect of 
the dualling of the A47 on the Plan’s economic strategy. 

The partial review of the Plan will be submitted for examination 3 years 
after the date of adoption of this Plan or by November 2022, whichever 
is soonest. In the event that the review is not submitted for examination 
by this time, then the Council’s policies that relate to the supply of 
housing, economic development and gypsy and travellers will be 
deemed to be out-of-date.

3.3 The Council is also required under the NPPF  to  review its Local Plan every 
five years from adoption. The Council is committed to producing an up to date 
high quality review of the Local Plan that addresses all of these requirements, 
that is consistent with the NPPF as well as one that incorporates key elements 
of both national policy and local priorities. These include the development of 
policies to achieve sustainable development and to ensure that climate change 
mitigation and adaptation are core objectives integrated across the whole Plan 
and setting local carbon targets that assists Government in progressing towards 
zero carbon targets. To this end the Council is engaging with the Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS) that is co-ordinating the work of a number of local 
authorities to come together and work with experienced local plan professionals 
to receive advice on reviewing, updating and progressing plans through to 
adoption. 

42



3.4 The Council has therefore resolved to undertake a full review of the Plan within 
the 5 year timescale (November 2024).

4. Local Plan Structure and Timetable for Preparation

Local Plan Structure

4.1 The production of the new Local Plan will follow the full statutory processes, 
including the preparation of a Sustainability Appraisal, public participation and 
other regulatory requirements. The Local Plan will be subject to Examination by 
an independent Inspector.

4.2 The documents that Breckland Council proposes to prepare are as follows:

(1) The new Local Plan, 
(2) Policies Maps,
(3) Given the need to prepare a Local Plan review, it will be necessary to 

review the Statement of Community Involvement in its entirety to set out 
how communities in these areas of change and development will be able 
to participate at both the strategic as well asconsultation during the 
decision making process. 

(4) The Council monitors the availability of housing land on an annual basis. 
The Council publishes an annual 5 Year Housing Land Statement in 
accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. This identifies that currently 
there is a 5 year supply of housing land up to October 2020. The Council 
will then undertake work in order to update the position. 

Progress on the preparation of the Local Plan Review

4.3 Appendix 1 sets out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan Review. 

5. Key risks

5.1 There are some key risks involved in preparing the new Local Plan. Some 
risks are within the ‘control’ of the Council but others are not. These could 
affect the timetable to a greater or lesser extent. The Council will monitor this 
LDS and prepare revisions where appropriate. 

5.2 The key risks are as follows:

Securing a timely housing requirement and completion of subsequent 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment

5.3 The current Local Plan included a locally derived housing target based on 
evidence from the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment. In 
February 2019, the Government adopted and rolled out a new ‘standard 
method’ for calculating the minimum housing need for every local authority in 
the UK. The main reasons for this change was to seek to ensure that the 

43



national target of delivering 300,000 houses per year was achieved and to 
simplify and rationalise the approach towards determining housing need for 
local areas. 

5.4 The standard method uses a formula to identify the minimum number of 
homes expected to be planned for, in a way which addresses projected 
household growth and historic under-supply.

5.5 The National Planning Policy Framework expects strategic policy-making 
authorities to follow the standard method in this guidance for assessing local 
housing need.

5.6 The 2014 based requirement for Breckland was 681 dwellings per annum. 
The more recent 2016 based figure rose to 770 dwellings per annum.  
However, the standard methodology, based on the 2016 household projection 
figures, showed that overall need in England was significantly lower, at 
212,000, than the Government’s stated desire to provide 300,000 new houses 
every year. As a consequence, the Government has committed to revise the 
standard method as follows:

In the short-term, the 2014 data will provide the demographic baseline for 
assessment of local housing need; otherwise, the current method remains 
unaltered.In the long-term, a review of the formula will be undertaken to 
identify a new method, to be completed prior to release of the 2018-based 
household projections in 2020.

5.7 The Government remains committed to delivering 300,000 new houses each 
year, it is therefore possible that the review could result in a higher housing 
figure for Breckland that that set out under the 2014 base. It is therefore very 
important to note that this 681 figure may change as the review of the Plan 
progresses and this could have implications for the evidence base 
underpinning the Plan, the consequent development strategy, including the 
numbers of new housing allocations that may be required. 

5.8 It is not yet known what the implications will be on the housing requirement for 
Breckland or when the review, and new figure, will be completed. 

Agreeing a viable and deliverable Development Strategy with 
appropriate Council and community consultation that accommodates 
any new housing requirement and that also delivers a 5 year housing 
land supply

5.9 The extended Plan period (to 2041) and likely increase in the annual housing 
need figure will require the new Plan to make additional allocations for both 
housing and employment uses. In addition the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019) requires plans to allocate smaller sites. 

5.10 The Council will need to consider, agree upon and consult on an appropriate 
development strategy covering both the urban and rural areas.

44



Changes to national Planning Policy / Planning White Paper (uncertain 
as to when and implications) and new considerations for the Plan

5.11 The Government is proposing reforms to the planning system in 2020. This 
was heralded in Planning for the Future (March 2020) that sets out the 
Government's plans for housing and planning following the announcements in 
the 2020 Budget. It is unclear as to when these reforms will be published, 
what implications they will have for the preparation of local plans, and what, if 
any, transitional arrangements may be put in place.

5.12 A further consideration that the Government may consider is the planning 
implications of the recent Covid 19 outbreak and how these may be brought 
forward into plan making. . 

5.13 For example, the Government / Council could consider revising its current 
policy of centralising the location of development to the most sustainable 
locations as the decentralisation of services and reducing density could be a 
way to combat disease spread, though this is contrary to sustainable transport 
and climate-change related goals.

5.14 The Plan could also consider leaving small parcels of land available, in case 
temporary medical facilities or housing need to be set up or promote more 
local food production through the greater provision of allotments. 

5.15 The Government introduced new measures to allow, for example bars and 
restaurants which had to close, to operate as takeaways. Given that the High 
Street is likely to suffer this year this could be extended to enable shops or 
cafes to reopen as "touch down" space or to broaden the range of services on 
offer. It is likely that the forced increased in online shopping could lead to a 
further reduction in demand for traditional high street retail units. That space 
will need to be repurposed – perhaps including leisure and experience-led 
uses; further online shopping collection points and other uses are likely to 
emerge as technology drives societal changes.

5.16 This could, for example, be combined with an increase in permitted 
development rights to demolish office and industrial buildings for new 
residential blocks. These could be introduced to help rebuild the economy. 

 
5.17 The realisation among businesses and employees alike that most traditionally 

office-based jobs can be done from home will likely lead to more people 
working some or all of the working week from home (or indeed anywhere), 
which will likely have positive outcomes for air quality and the environment. As 
work patterns change, this could lead to a downturn in demand for traditional 
office space and a need to repurpose much of that space. Coupled with this 
there is likely to be an increase in demand for casual "touch down" space and 
conference/video conference rooms, most likely in residential areas rather 
than town centres. The design of new housing may also change to include 
studies and family workspaces as well as an increase in residential extensions 
and curtilage buildings to be used as garden offices.

45



5.18 During the lockdown people got more used to video conferencing, making it 
less likely that they will feel the need to travel long distances for meetings. 
Taken together, with more home working this may well lead to a significant 
reduction in both road and rail travel, leading in turn to reductions in CO2 
emissions etc. and a reduction in demand for additional transport 
infrastructure.
 

5.19 The increased use of broadband use might require a faster rollout of the 5G 
network to facilitate better connectivity and home-working. Permitted 
development rights for masts and tech may be relaxed to enable faster and 
better deployment.
 

5.20 Energy usage changes as a result of many more people working from home 
could increase pressure on the Government to subsidise green energy 
measures within the home such as the previously disbanded feed in tariffs. 
New strategic renewable energy projects could be considered to improve 
resilience

5.21 Further changes to National Planning Policy, including some or all of the above,  
could give rise to a need to review or amend the timetable. The previous 
planning system was amended on several occasions which altered the formal 
stages of document preparation. 

Duty to Co-operate / securing statements of common ground with key 
external stakeholders in developing the Plan (Utilities / NCC /Statutory 
consultees)

5.22 The Council is reliant on close dialogue and co-operation with and from key 
stakeholders. Timely discussions and agreement with these organisations 
cannot be guaranteed and responses could result in a need for revisions to 
the development strategy.  

Staff Resources and Project Management

5.23 Breckland Council has strong corporate commitment to the adoption of a new 
Local Plan, and the importance of this work is recognised and supported 
across the authority. The Plan will be produced by the Council’s Planning 
Service, with the work being led by the Planning Policy team. The service is 
supported by the specialist technical skills and knowledge of other teams, 
including Housing, Environmental Protection and Regeneration. Staff 
turnover, the national lack of qualified planners and increasing need for staff 
to specialise all pose medium risks to the timetable if one or more members of 
the team were to leave the team. The loss of staff with significant local 
knowledge may take time to replace. Therefore, staff retention and 
replacement are priorities for the service and this aspect will be managed to 
ensure that the timetable for the Local Plan is not put at risk. As the Council’s 
planning service is delivered by Capita, there is potential scope to use 
resources elsewhere within the company to minimise this element of risk 
should it arise. 

46



5.24 The Council will seek to use its processes of community involvement and 
engagement and its Duty to Cooperate activities and organisations to help 
inform and develop the plan, making effective use of intelligence and resources. 
This will include the preparation of Statements of Common Ground in relation 
to strategic cross border planning matters. Officers will hold early discussions 
with neighbouring local planning authorities and other statutory organisations 
regarding the preparation of Statements of Common Ground. The plan will be 
supported by a comprehensive evidence base, including housing, employment, 
retail, transport, heritage, infrastructure, viability and the natural environment. 

5.25 The Council has established management and reporting structures to support 
the delivery of the local plan, including the use of briefings and reporting to 
senior managers and members throughout the plan preparation process. Risk 
management is integral to reporting and monitoring. The Planning Service 
regularly reviews work streams on the local plan, to take account of new 
legislation and significant changes in the local context. There is a dedicated 
member working group supporting the production of the local plan. 

Availability of the LDS

5.26 The Council is required by the regulations to make the LDS available to the 
public. Copies are available for inspection at the Council’s offices in Dereham. 
The LDS is also available to view on the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s 
website [www.breckland.gov.uk].

47



Appendix 1: Timetable

Table 1: Local Plan Review timetable
Coverage: District Wide
Governance: Local Plan Working Group / Cabinet / Full Council 

Stage Date
Commencement of Preparation January 2020 
Scoping of the Plan and 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report Consultation

Prepare local development scheme

Prepare and consult on Statement of 
Community Involvement

Prepare Communications Strategy

January 2020 – July 2020

Issues and Options preparation and 
council approval (Regulation 18) 

April 2020 – September 2020

Issues and Options consultation 
(Regulation 18)

October 2020

Preferred Options and draft Plan 
preparation and  Council approval 
(Regulation 18)

January 2021 – November 
2021

Preferred options and draft Plan 
consultation (Regulation 18)

January 2022

Ev
id

en
ce

 g
at

he
rin

g 
an

d 
re

fin
em

en
t

Publication Draft preparation and 
Council approval (Regulation 19)

May 2022  – December 2022

Publication Draft consultation 
(Regulation 19)

February 2023

Publication Draft Council approval 
for Submission (Regulation 19)

August 2023Su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
Ap

pr
ai

sa
l (

pr
ep

ar
at

io
n 

an
d 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n)

Submission for examination 
(Regulation 22)

December 2023

Examination (Regulations 23, 24) June 2024
Adoption (Regulation 26) November 2024 

48



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP

Held on Thursday, 14 May 2020 at 1.00 pm in
Virtual Meeting via Zoom

PRESENT
Mr P.D. Claussen (Chairman)
Mrs J. James (Vice-Chairman)
Miss H. Bushell

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr I. Martin

Also Present
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Mr R. F. W. Brame

In Attendance
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Simon Wood - Director of Planning & Building Control
Andrew D'Arcy - Planning Policy Manager
Megan Sales - Planning Policy Graduate
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

10/20 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Councillors Jane James, Ian Martin and Hilary Bushell who were in 
attendance at the 10th January 2020 meeting confirmed the Minutes as a 
correct record.

11/20 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

None.

12/20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None declared.

13/20 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

14/20 NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

The Planning Committee Members had been invited to attend the meeting 
and those in attendance were:

Councillors Phillip Duigan, Keith Gilbert, Peter Wilkinson and Roy Brame.

Document Pack

49



Local Plan Working Group
14 May 2020

2

Action By

15/20 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

As this was the first virtual meeting of the Local Plan Working Group, the 
Chairman explained how the meeting should work and highlighted the 
protocol that had been included on the agenda.

He reminded Members that the Local Plan Working Group was not a 
decision making body and any recommendations would be presented to 
the Cabinet meeting on 1 June 2020.

16/20 THE SCOPE OF THE LOCAL PLAN REVIEW (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Planning Policy Manager, Andrew D’Arcy provided Members with a 
presentation (attached).

The report explained the scope of the Local Plan review and, in terms of 
content, the reasons why the Council had to review the Plan so soon 
following its adoption in November 2019. 

Members were provided with a detailed overview of what was required for 
the Council to meet its strategic priorities in respect of the review.  

The Planning Policy Manager highlighted the key risks and issues as 
mentioned at section 3 of the report and the 5 year housing land supply as 
highlighted at section 4 of the report.

Members were being asked to either recommend to Cabinet whether a full 
or partial review of the Local Plan should be undertaken and submitted by 
the dates shown in the report.

Councillor Bushell thanked the Planning Policy Manager for his 
presentation as it had highlighted a number of issues that had not been 
immediately evident.  She felt that there were so many unknowns at this 
time due to the present situation; and bearing in mind that the figures from 
Government had not, as yet, been forthcoming she believed that the 
Council should pursue the full review route.  This would provide the 
Council with more time to go through everything more methodically and 
hopefully with more information coming through from Government as time 
went on.  

Councillor Bushell also raised concerns about the new housing figures 
based on the more recent 2016 requirement and what affect the extended 
Plan period to 2041 would have on the Council’s current Plan period to 
2036.

In response, the Planning Policy Manager explained that if Members were 
mindful to opt for the full review, irrespective of the new housing figure, the 
current Local Plan would continue until it was replaced with a new Plan 
and a new housing number. The issues for consideration were what would 
happen between November 2022 and the adoption of the full review in 
respect of housing numbers and the Council’s five year land supply.  
These issues were explained. 

Councillor Bushell asked a further question about climate change and the 

50



Local Plan Working Group
14 May 2020

3

Action By

effects this would have on the design of properties being built in terms of 
starter homes and homes for the elderly.  She asked if these issues would 
take the Council away from its present Plan and whether it would be more 
prudent to go for a full review or a hybrid review. The Planning Policy 
Manager stated that the more policies the Council wanted to put into the 
partial review, if this indeed was the option taken, would require evidence 
and consultation that would take time; therefore, the only way a partial 
review could be submitted by November 2022 would be to simply look at 
what the Inspector and NPPF required the Council to do and not look at 
any new additional policies.    These policies could be looked at and dealt 
with in the full review option.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris said that the report was telling him exactly what he 
thought in that the Council should go forward with a full review.  He felt that 
the timescale for a partial review was too short and even 2024 could be too 
short for a full review and he hoped; therefore, that the Government would 
wake up at the end of this Covid-19 crisis and say that Council’s could 
ignore this process for another year until 2025.  He felt that if a partial 
review was undertaken, any subsequent review would undo what had been 
done in a past review, and the Council would be looking to change policies 
that had been partially reviewed which in his opinion would be a complete 
waste of time and chaotic and would not be a good idea.  He drew 
attention to paragraphs 3.7 to 3.10 of the report that definitely pointed the 
Council in carrying out a full review. 

Councillor Ian Martin asked a question and raised concerns about deadline 
dates in respect of the Planning White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’ 
(March 2020) that had been referenced within the appendix attached at 
agenda item 8 under paragraph 5.11.   Members were informed that the 
Council would still have an up-to-date Plan as it would have been prepared 
within the 5 year review period as set out in National Policy.  Not all 
policies within that Plan would necessarily be deemed to be up-to-date as 
the inspector suggested in Policy INF 03 but the remainder of the Plan as a 
whole would be deemed to be up-to-date in 2023. Councillor Ian Martin 
asked if an additional paragraph could be included in the report to that 
effect.  Another matter raised was in respect of the wording contained in 
paragraph 2.2 of the report (agenda item 7) where it stated that the Council 
would have an up-to-date Plan even if a partial review was undertaken.  It 
was agreed that this wording would be amended.

Simon Wood, the Director of Planning & Building Control advised that even 
if housing policies were deemed to be out of date it did not mean that they 
were irrelevant and the Local Plan would still be the starting point for 
decision making – it made the supply of housing much more definitive 
within terms of any potential decision by either the Council or the Planning 
Inspector going forward.  Plans did not become immaterial they just had 
different levels of weight adjusted to them.  

The Vice-Chairman, Councillor Jane James felt that the context of where 
the Council was at, at the moment, was going to be incredibly interesting in 
terms of what came out next but all the Council and Members could do 
was to deal with the here and now.  She was in complete agreement that in 
terms of doing everything to meet the minimum requirements as in INF 03 
was going to be incredibly tight in terms of time lines but had concerns that 

AD

51



Local Plan Working Group
14 May 2020

4

Action By

a partial review could expose the Council to greater challenge rather than 
going forward with the full review. The Vice-Chairman therefore supported 
a full review.  She also felt that climate change should be addressed in the 
full review and as far as allotments/open spaces were concerned, 
theoretically, at this point in time, these would fit in with the NPPF 
promoting healthy and safer communities.  Employment growth was going 
to look very different if the world of homeworking was accepted as the new 
normal going forward and she was concerned about how much everything 
was going to have to change and adapted in the current climate in terms of 
policies.  She also felt that the strategic infrastructure competed with the 
‘Green’ agenda as Council’s had always looked at public transport as 
being shared, greener and mitigating the environmental impact; potentially, 
these could change.  Overall she felt that at this point in time there were 
more questions than answers. 

Councillor Wilkinson, the Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee, 
agreed that a full review should be required.  Covid-19 crisis was a big 
problem for the whole country not just for local councils and the 
Government White Paper that still had to come forward might dictate how 
local authorities should go forward with their local plans. 

Councillor Keith Gilbert, a Planning Committee Member, asked if it was 
decided to go for a full review would the Council have the time and 
resources to undertake it and asked if it would be better to do what the 
Inspector had asked for first then keep the remainder under review and 
look to do a full review at a later date.   The Chairman advised that the 
Council would have to undertake the work anyway but passed the 
question/concern over to the Director of Planning & Building Control.  
Members were informed the concern would be that the Council would be 
throwing good money away as a great deal of the work would be 
duplicated.  The Director of Planning & Building Control felt it made much 
more sense, in terms of the resources, to go for the full review as in the 
long term this would be the more economic option. 

The Chairman was in agreement with all that had been said but was 
mindful of the concern raised by Councillor Martin and reminded Members 
of what had been suggested at the last meeting about writing a letter to the 
Secretary of State stating the reason and the rationale behind Breckland 
Council wanting to go ahead with a full review and not adhering to the 
Inspector’s request.  He believed that Government was hanging onto the 
five year housing land supply for all of the wrong reasons and fellow 
District Councillors should be lobbied to agree the decision of a full review 
going forward.  The five year housing land supply was not working as 
planned as all it was doing was land banking and if we could lobby to have 
the tools to start unlocking what the Council had already given permissions 
for then he felt that this would be a major step as well.  

Members agreed that, at the Cabinet meeting when considering this report, 
the Leader should be urged to write to the Secretary of State with these 
views. 

RECOMMEND to Cabinet that a full review of the Breckland Local Plan be 
undertaken.    

SW/AD

52



Local Plan Working Group
14 May 2020

5

Action By

17/20 THE REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Andrew D’Arcy, the Planning Policy Manager presented the report. 
 
The Government required local planning authorities to prepare a Local 
Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS was a five year project plan and 
this version covered the period 2020-2025. The purpose of a LDS included 
setting out the timetable for the delivery of Council produced planning 
policy documents. These were often referred to as Development Plan 
Documents or Local Plans. During the period 2020-2025, the Council 
intends to produce a review of the Breckland Local Plan (November 
2019).The Local Plan Review (LPR), as this document would be known, 
would affect the whole of the Breckland District.
 
This report followed on from the previous discussion and in the light of the 
recommendation that was agreed to Cabinet in terms of approving a full 
review, as a Local Planning Authority, it was obliged to prepare a LDS that 
essentially set out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan 
review.
 
An LDS would help the Council; for example, to make resource and 
financial provision over the period of preparation and also assisted the 
communities and developers in terms of what and approximately when 
they could expect progress to be made on the Plan and to be involved in 
preparing planning policies by setting out an indicative timetable for the 
preparation of each document.

This LDS (2020 - 2024) would provide a formal work programme of the 
planning documents set to be produced during the timeframe including 
where necessary, reviews of adopted documents. The LDS did not include 
details of other planning policy documents that the Council might be 
involved with including any neighbourhood plans or supplementary 
planning documents (SPDs) that once completed would form part of or 
complement the development plan. For example, the Council was 
preparing SPDs on affordable housing, design and developer 
contributions. The LDS provided opportunities for the local community and 
stakeholders.
 
This report would also be presented to the Cabinet meeting on 1 June 
2020.  The Planning Policy Manager advised that in terms of the 
uncertainties around the risks and the issues as previously discussed 
under agenda item 7, the timetable would have to be kept under review.

The Chairman was not keen on the word ‘indicative’ in respect of the 
timetable given the expected White Paper from Government and asked if 
this was a realistic timetable.  Members were informed that all the Council 
could do was set out a timetable that was believed to be achievable and 
would have to be kept under review as there were many outside factors 
that could have an impact to the timetable.  A good example would be the 
consultation as it would depend on what state the country was in, in 
respect of the corona virus. 
 
Members discussed the current Covid-19 situation and whether this would 
have any effect on the timetable going forward. Other issues raised were 

53



Local Plan Working Group
14 May 2020

6

Action By

the financial implications, again taking into account the current situation 
and the costs involved in respect of the current crisis.  Rob Walker, the 
Director of Place pointed out that a financial report would be included on 
the Cabinet Agenda for the meeting on 1 June 2020, this report would 
provide Members with the costs/implications relating to Covid-19.  He 
pointed out that the Council was already aware of the financial costs thus 
far, the issues/concerns for consideration was the long term financial 
impact.
 
Councillor Mark Kiddle-Morris drew attention to paragraph 1.1 of the 
appendix and queried the dates which he believed should be 2020 to 2024 
and not 2020 to 2025.   It was agreed that the dates would be changed in 
the report to Cabinet.

Councillor Ian Martin asked by having to review the Plan within 5 years did 
this mean that it would have to go through examination and adoption by 
the expiry of 5 years or did it mean that the Council would had to have 
gone through the submission process within 5 years.  If this was the case 
the Council would be looking at submission by December 2023 which is 
only a year later than the process for a partial review.  The Planning Policy 
Manager explained that the five years would be to fully complete the 
review for examination and adoption. Councillor Martin felt that the 
timetable looked exceedingly tight to include all the ambitions that had 
been laid out, he also felt that it coincided with the paper considered in 
March, ‘Planning for the Future’. 

Councillor James queried the wording above the link included in the 
appendix between paragraphs 2.7 and 2.8 where it referred to 
Neighbourhood Plans but the link itself took you to a web page that 
referred to Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  Members were 
informed that the links would be checked.

Councillor Brame was confused with all the dates being put forward and 
felt that it would be a good idea when writing to the Secretary of State that 
it should be mentioned that 2025 would be better for Breckland and all 
other Councils particularly as everyone had lost a great deal of time 
already. Although a good idea, the Chairman felt that this should be left to 
the Directors and Leader to decide what the letter should contain. The 
Executive Director of Place stated that this suggestion would be mentioned 
to the Leader.

Subject to all the aforementioned points, the report was 

RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that the revised Local Development Scheme 
be approved.

AD

AD

SW/RW

The meeting closed at 2.10 pm  

CHAIRMAN

54


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Covid-19 update
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Untitled

	Appendix D

	8 Financial implications of Covid-19
	Appendix 1 for Financial implications of Covid-19

	11 Local Plan Update and Direction
	draft Local Development Scheme v3 may 15 2020
	Minutes Public Pack, 14/05/2020 Local Plan Working Group
	Minutes





